IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 23-0093

GARY DEAN JANSSEN and LARRY DALE JANSSEN,
Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

**THE SECURITY NATIONAL BANK OF
SIOUX CITY,** as Executor of the Estate of
Richard D. Janssen, and **SHERYL ANN
COLLINS,** Individually,
Defendants-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT
OF WOODBURY COUNTY
NO. ESPR055208
HON. ZACHARY S. HINDMAN

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

SMITH LAW FIRM, PLC
Tyler M. Smith (ATT 0007399)
321 8th Street SW
Altoona, IA 50009
Telephone: 515/212-4000
Facsimile: 515/869-0064
Email: tyler@smithlawiowa.com

HANSEN, McCLINTOCK & RILEY
Alexander E. Wonio (AT0008559)
Fifth Floor - U.S. Bank Building
520 Walnut St.
Des Moines, IA 50309-4119

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. PLAINTIFFS COMPLIED WITH IOWA CODE §633.312 BY SERVING SHULTZ WITH NOTICE AND JOINING HER AS A DEFENDANT.

In re Ditz' Est., 255 Iowa 1272, 1278, 125 N.W.2d 814, 818 (1964)

Mallory v. Jurgena, 250 Iowa 16, 21, 92 N.W.2d 387, 390 (1958)

II. THE DISTRICT COURT RETAINED AUTHORITY TO HEAR THE CASE EVEN IN THE ABSENCE OF STRICT COMPLIANCE WITH IOWA CODE SEC. 633.312

Iowa Const. art. V, § 6

Iowa Code § 601A.16(1)

Max 100 L.C., 621 N.W.2d at 181; *Ney v. Ney*, 891 N.W.2d 446, 453 (Iowa 2017)

Ney v. Ney, 891 N.W.2d 446, 453–54 (Iowa 2017)

Christie v. Rolscreen Co., 448 N.W.2d 447, 450 (Iowa 1989)

City of Des Moines v. Des Moines Police, 360 N.W.2d 729, 730–31 (Iowa 1985)

In re Marriage of Seyler, 559 N.W.2d 7, 10 n.3 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Ma, 509 N.W.2d 481, 482–83 (Iowa 1993)

McKim v. Petty, 242 Iowa 599, 45 N.W.2d 157, 159-60 (1950)

Danforth v. Thompson, 34 Iowa 243, 245

In re appeal of McLain, 189 Iowa 264, 269, 270, 176 N.W. 817

21 C.J.S., Courts, § 109

Alliant Energy-Interstate Power & Light Co. v. Duckett, 732 N.W.2d 869, 876 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Emery, 636 N.W.2d 116, 122 (Iowa 2001)

Keokuk Cnty. v. H.B., 593 N.W.2d 118, 122 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Yodprasit, 564 N.W.2d 383, 387 (Iowa 1997)

O'Kelley v. Lochner, 259 Iowa 710, 716, 145 N.W.2d 626, 630 (1966)

Oakes v. Oakes, 255 Iowa 1315, 1318, 125 N.W.2d 835, 837 (1964)

In re Damon's Guardianship, 238 Iowa 570, 575–76, 28 N.W.2d 48, 51 (1947)

Schaeffer v. Schaeffer, 471 S.W.3d 367, 372 (Mo. Ct. App. 2015)

Leach v. Farmers Sav. Bank, 205 Iowa 114, 116, 213 N.W. 414 (Iowa 1928) 27

Geremia v. Geremia, 159 Conn. App. 751, 783, 125 A.3d 549 (Conn. App. Ct. 2015)

In re Estate of Venturelli, 54 Ill. App. 3d 997, 1002, 370 N.E.2d 290 (Ill. App. Ct. 1977)

Heidelberg Harris, Inc. v. Mitsubishi Heavy Indus., Ltd., No. 95 C 0673, 1996 WL 680243, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 21, 1996)

People v. Walker, 2019 Ill. App. 2d 170262, 7 (Ill. App. Ct. 2019)

People v. Moreno, H037566, 2013 WL 135758, at *6 (Cal. Ct. App. Jan. 11, 2013)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case presents the following questions:

Can a party who was joined in a will contest pursuant to Iowa Code 633.312 consent to her dismissal before trial?

And, can the losing party at trial (who also consented to both the dismissal and the trial without the dismissed party) later demand a new trial by arguing the joinder statute was not met based on the consented-to-dismissal?

This appeal should be transferred to the Court of Appeals of Iowa under Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(3) as the issues presented can be resolved via application of existing legal principles.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is a will contest and tortious interference action brought by Larry and Gary Janssen against their sister Sheryl Collins concerning the estate of their father, Richard Janssen. Richard's other three children—Dean, Jeff, and Debra—were joined as parties to the action for the first two-and-a-half years of litigation, including a first trial ending in a hung jury.

Before the second trial, Dean and Jeff voluntarily dismissed their claims. (App.p. 543) Additionally, Larry and Gary moved for the dismissal of their claims against Debra Shultz, stating:

COME NOW the Plaintiffs and hereby DISMISS all claims made against Defendant Debra Lynn Shultz. This applies only to those limited claims and does not in any way impact the Plaintiffs' remaining claims.

(App. pp. 790, 792, 1070-1071).

All parties consented to the dismissal and trial of the remaining claims without Dean, Jeff, and Shultz serving as anything other than testifying witnesses. (App. p. 1071)

THE COURT: Thank you very much. Anything on those dismissals, Mr. Deinert?

MR. DEINERT: Yeah. First, Your Honor, we don't object, although the first notice we received of these dismissals was when we received the e-mail after lunch yesterday, about 18 hours before trial. There are other issues that will be addressed later on in this pretrial hearing that are affected by the untimely dismissal of a claim as well as a party. But, of course, Deb Shultz does not object to being dismissed, as well as the capacity claim.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you, Mr. Deinert. Anything on the dismissals on behalf of Security National Bank, Mr. Lessmann?

MR. LESSMANN: No, Your Honor. We agree with the Court to the extent that the Rule 1.943 be -- that it's within ten days does require consent of the Court. We do not object to the dismissal of Deb Shultz as a party. Nor do we object to the dismissal of the Count 1, testamentary capacity claim.

(App. p. 1071) (emphasis added).

The accepted compromise, and valuable dismissal, was granted with the sisters' (Collins and Shultz) consent and the case proceeded to a second trial. (App p. 1072) The court stated:

THE COURT: All right. Very well. So the request for dismissal of Count 1 and the request for dismissal of Debra Shultz as a party will be granted then. So that, I think, takes care of that.

(App. p. 1072)

After evidentiary presentation, the Woodbury County jury unanimously found Collins committed fraud and undue influence against her father, and tortious interference

with inheritance against her brothers. (App. pp. 800-801) The jury also found Collins' conduct was willful and wanton, warranting punitive damages. (App. pp. 802-803)

Weeks after the jury's verdict, however, Collins reversed her position in ostensibly withdrawing her prior express consent, objected to Shultz's dismissal, and argued for the first time that the Court lacked jurisdiction to conduct the very trial she consented to. (Motion to Dismiss the Petition and Matter for Failure to Include Indispensable Party) The district court accepted Collins' argument, reversed its pretrial order granting Shultz's dismissal, and ordered Larry and Gary to retry the case a third time after rejoining Shultz as a defendant. (App. p. 937; Order dated Dec. 21, 2022)

Larry and Gary have appealed that order and now ask this Court to reverse and direct the district court to enter judgment on the jury's verdict in their favor.

Course of Proceedings: This action began on September 17, 2018, as a proceeding to probate a will. (App p. 7) The Plaintiffs filed a petition to contest the will and for damages for tortious interference with inheritance. (App p. 12) The named plaintiffs were Larry, Gary, Dean, and Jeff Janssen. (App p. 12) The named defendants were the Estate of Richard Janssen, Sheryl Collins, and Debra Shultz. (App p. 12) The claims asked that the 2018 will be set aside, sought a public finding against Defendants individually, as well as monetary personal judgment. (App p. 12)

The case was first tried to a jury in October 2019. (Court Reporter Memo and Certificate) Because the jury was unable to reach a verdict, District Judge Hindman declared a mistrial on November 6, 2019. (Order dated Nov. 6, 2019)

Defendants Sheryl Collins and Debra Shultz were at all times represented by the same legal counsel. (Dkct. ESPR055208) After the first trial, the District Court warned their counsel about the potential divergence of their interests in this action—including the very interests involved in Shultz’s consented-to dismissal raised by Collins’ post-trial motions that led to this appeal.

Although, as set forth above, the Court concludes that a reasonable jury could find that Debra tortiously interfered with Larry's and Gary's inheritance by way of undue influence, it is more difficult for the Court to conclude that a reasonable jury could find that Debra tortiously interfered with Larry's Gary's inheritance by way of fraud. That does not change the Court's analysis with respect to the Defendants' motion for directed verdict on the tortious interference claim against Debra, in light of the Court's conclusion with respect to tortious interference by undue influence. **But it does raise, in the Court's mind, the question whether a conflict exists here between Sheryl and Debra.** If the jury had found in favor of the Defendants on the lack-of-testamentary-capacity claim, and on the undue influence claim, such that the April 2018 will were not set aside; and if the jury had found that Sheryl tortiously interfered with Larry's and Gary's inheritance by way of fraud, but did not so find with respect to Debra, then Sheryl could potentially have been on the hook for damages in an amount equivalent to the combined inheritance received by Sheryl and Debra. Such a result could have left Sheryl owing Larry and Gary damages in an amount roughly double that of which she received under the will.

Accordingly, it is arguably in Sheryl's interest, if a jury does not find in favor of the Defendants on all issues, and if the jury finds against her on the tortious interference claim, for the jury also to find against Debra on the tortious interference claim. The Court does not, by raising this issue, mean to suggest that there necessarily exists here a conflict of interest

for the attorneys representing the individual Defendants, either waivable or otherwise. But since this issue occurred to the Court in analyzing the Defendants' motion for directed verdict, and since there exists a possibility that **this matter will be tried again, the Court concludes that it is appropriate to raise the issue now, in order to ensure that the issue is discussed by the appropriate parties and counsel, so as to avoid problems arising in the future.**

(Order date Nov. 6, 2019 re: Directed Verdict Motions)(emphasis added)

The case was set for a retrial on June 22, 2021. (Order dated Feb. 11, 2021) Prior to the second trial, two plaintiffs withdrew as named parties in the case. (App. pp. 543) On June 21, 2022, with the consent of the district court and counsel for all Defendants, who stated that they had no objection, the remaining Plaintiffs dismissed their claims against Defendant Debra Shultz. (App. pp. 790, 792, 1070-1071).

After the Plaintiffs' obtained a unanimous verdict on all of their claims against Collins, she moved to dismiss for failure to include Shultz as an indispensable party. (App p. 821).

The district court treated Collins's motion as a motion "for new trial for failure to join an indispensable party," and granted that motion on May 19, 2022. (App. p. 847)

On June 3, 2022, Plaintiffs filed a motion asking the district court to enlarge, amend, and reconsider its ruling on Defendant Collins's motion. (App. p. 888) On December 21, 2022, the district court denied Plaintiffs' motion. (App. p. 937)

On January 13, 2023, Plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal. (App. 972).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This proceeding concerns a contest over the last will and testament of the decedent Richard Janssen, who died on September 2, 2018, leaving two wills—one executed May 13, 2014, and one purportedly executed a few months before his death, on April 20, 2018.

While this appeal concerns a procedural question of the will contest—not a weight of the evidence one—some mention of the unsavory nature of Sheryl Collins’ actions bears mentioning.

The elements of the undue influence case, and their satisfaction, were admitted on the stand by Collins’ handpicked attorney for the invalid will—Joel Vos. Vos testified undue influence “would be... if the person who makes the call initially says, ‘This is what my mom or dad wants to do and has it all laid out...’” (Trial Tr. Vol. III, 6/24/21–82:15-20); “an influencer attending a meeting” (Trial Tr. Vol. III, 6/24/21–83:3-7); “a hasty or quickly prepared estate plan (Trial Tr. Vol. III, 6/24/21–p.83: 13-15); “a beneficiary or person who stands to benefit actively participating [in the will preparation]” (Trial Tr. Vol. III, 6/24/21–83:14-20); “a dramatic or significant change in a will” (Trial Tr. Vol. III, 6/24/21–83:21-23); “a person being mentally or physically weak” (Trial Tr. Vol. III, 6/24/21–83:24-25; 84:1-5); and ultimately “person improperly inserts their opinions into the process of an estate to the point where it no longer represents the -- the intent of the person who makes the will, but now it reflects the intent of the person who is exerting the undue influence.” (Trial Tr. Vol. III, 6/24/21–82:2-7).

Vos then admitted to the jury that each of these was present in the instant case: that Sheryl Collins made the initial call to Vos's firm to set the appointment for Richard (Trial Tr. Vol. III, 6/24/21–85:10-16); that Collins slipped instructions to Vos's firm—in her own handwriting—as to what her dad allegedly wanted to do, even to the extent of saying why Larry and Gary Janssen were allegedly being disinherited, and had it all laid out before Vos had ever even spoken with (let alone met) Richard Janssen (Trial Tr. Vol. III, 6/24/21–87: 20-25; 88: 1-25; 89: 1-14); that Vos drafted Richard Janssen's alleged will in accordance with Sheryl Collins' directions before ever meeting with Richard Janssen (Trial Tr. Vol. III, 6/24/21–89:8-14); and that Sheryl Collins actively participated in the will preparation by bringing Richard to the appointment and substantively engaging in the planning discussions with Mr. Vos by providing her answers to “fifteen to twenty questions” about how to prepare the alleged will (Trial Tr. Vol. III, 6/24/21–91:14-19; 92:1-25; 93:1-25; 94:1-25; 95:1-25). On its face, the alleged new will radically changed Richard's most recent will by disinheriting Larry and Gary Janssen (compare Exhibits 372 and 375 with Exhibits 307-310), and Collins admitted that the challenged will benefited her (Trial Tr. Vo. II, 6/23/21–205:4-8). Collins fed all of the information to Vos before the meeting to effect the disinheritance. (Exhibits 365, 365A, 366, 370).

In fact, Collins secretly recorded herself confusing and unduly influencing her father into the change just shortly before she took her father to Vos to enact her desired changes. (Exhibits 365, 365A). As the jury found, the recording reflects a troubling

conversation between a greedy and unremitting daughter and her confused and vulnerable father. *Id.* The jury was instructed to consider the following as fraudulent statements by Collins:

- a. That Larry Dale Janssen and/or Gary Dean Janssen convinced Melva Janssen, Richard's wife, to bequeath to them in her 2014 will her undivided one-half interest in the farmland that Richard and Melva jointly owned;
- b. That Richard Janssen had been tricked into signing his 2014 will;
- c. That Barry Thompson was taking advantage of Richard;
- d. That the document which constitutes Plaintiffs' Exhibit 311 was Melva's will;
- e. That powers of attorney can do whatever they want;
- f. That Richard having received a life estate in Melva's former interest in their previously jointly-owned farmland meant that Richard did not own her former interest in the land; or
- g. That people were trying to take Richard's land.

(Jury Instr. No. 24).

The jury found Collins' fraudulent actions so abhorrent as to render a unanimous verdict in Plaintiffs' favor, overturning the 2018 will, assessing nearly a half-million dollars in personal damages against her, and finding that her conduct rose to the level of willful and wanton disregard of others' rights supporting punitive damages. (App. pp. 800, 802)

Weeks after the unanimous verdicts were entered against her, Collins, for the first time, withdrew her consent to Shultz's dismissal and related agreement to go to trial on those terms. (App. p. 821)

The Court treated Collins’s motion as a request for a new trial for failure to join an indispensable party, and granted Collins’s request for a new trial, finding that Debra Shultz was an indispensable party whose dismissal by consent of the parties and with the permission of the Court had been improper. The Court also held that the dismissal of an indispensable party at any time prior to the conclusion of the trial was an error that “cannot be waived” or excused.

ARGUMENT

This appeal poses two questions:

1. Was Iowa Code § 633.312 complied with?
2. If not, did the district court still have authority to hear the case?

The answer is ‘yes’ to both these questions.

As explained below, Iowa Code § 633.312 requires only service of notice and joinder of all interested parties to the suit. Once joined, a party may move for, or consent to, its dismissal from the case. That’s what happened here, satisfying the first inquiry. The district court’s first error was in finding otherwise.

But even a failure to satisfy the statutory requirements of Iowa Code § 633.312 does not deprive the court of authority to hear the case. This is because a statute (or a failure to comply with one) cannot deprive a court of its constitutionally granted subject matter jurisdiction. Rather, statutes may only limit a court’s authority to hear a case. In the event of statutory noncompliance, the Court’s authority to hear a case can still be

conferred by the parties' consent, waiver, or estoppel—each of which occurred here. The district court's second error was in finding it lacked authority to hear this case.

PLAINTIFFS COMPLIED WITH IOWA CODE §633.312 BY SERVING SHULTZ WITH NOTICE AND JOINING HER AS A DEFENDANT.

There are only two requirements of Iowa Code 633.312: (1) that “all known interested parties... shall be joined” in a will contest action, and (2) that “[a]ll such defendants shall be brought in by serving them with notice pursuant to the rules of civil procedure.” Both requirements were undeniably met here.

Debra Shultz was joined as a defendant to this will contest action on October 3, 2018 and served on October 11, 2018. (See Plaintiffs' Petition filed October 3, 2018; Return of Service on Debra Shultz filed October 15, 2018). Dean and Jeff Janssen were likewise joined, but as plaintiffs. *Id.* There are no other requirements under 633.312. Thus, there was actual compliance with the statute. *See In re Ditz' Est.*, 255 Iowa 1272, 1278, 125 N.W.2d 814, 818 (1964) (finding compliance with what is now Iowa Code 633.312 where “the court did order the seven parties brought in, and they were brought in by amending the petition to include them as parties defendant and by serving them with an original notice.”) (emphasis added).

Nothing else is mandated by statute. “When the meaning of a statute is clear we will not amend it by judicial edict, nor add words creating a new meaning.” *Mallory v. Jurgena*, 250 Iowa 16, 21, 92 N.W.2d 387, 390 (1958). Iowa Code 633.312 does not require a party to remain a defendant through trial, prevent a party from moving for

summary judgment or for a directed verdict for her own dismissal as a defendant, or prevent a party from otherwise requesting or consenting to the dismissal of such claims against her. Nor does it limit the Court's authority to grant a defendant's dismissal at any of these stages. The District Court erred when it ruled otherwise.

Once joined, Shultz could move for, and consent to, her dismissal. Indeed, Shultz exercised all her rights as a party after being joined—including filing an answer to the petition, written discovery, depositions, a motion for summary judgment seeking her dismissal, pretrial filings, a first trial, a motion for directed verdict seeking her dismissal, post trial motions, more depositions, a second motion for summary judgment, and pretrial filings for a second trial. *See generally* Court Docket Woodbury Co. No. ESPR055208. After two years and eight months of actively participating in the litigation seeking her dismissal, she exercised her ultimate right to consent to her own dismissal before trial and thereby limit her exposure to liability. (App. p. 1071) (Shultz's counsel, Ryland Deinert, stating "of course, Deb Shultz does not object to being dismissed."). In short, Shultz was afforded all the rights and protections of a litigant contemplated by Iowa Code 633.312 and the related Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.234.

Shultz's right as a properly joined litigant to consent to her own dismissal is consistent with the general autonomy the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure afford parties in litigating their positions, including:

- the right to choose which defenses to raise (Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.405 and 1.421),

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