IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

Appeal No. 23-0093

---

GARY DEAN JANSSEN and LARRY DALE JANSSEN,  
Plaintiffs/Appellants,

vs.

THE SECURITY NATIONAL BANK OF SIOUX CITY, IOWA, as  
Executor of the Estate of Richard D. Janssen, and SHERYL ANN  
COLLINS, Individually,  
Defendants/Appellees

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLEE  
THE SECURITY NATIONAL BANK OF SIOUX CITY, IOWA

---

Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Woodbury County  
Case No. ESRP 055208

Honorable Zachary S. Hindman  
District Court Judge, Presiding

---

Colby M. Lessmann, AT#0004624  
TIGGES, BOTTARO & LESSMANN, LLP  
613 Pierce Street  
P.O. Box 1557  
Sioux City, IA 51102-1557  
Phone: 712-252-3226

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. PLAINTIFFS DID NOT COMPLY WITH IOWA CODE § 633.312.**

#### **a. Preservation of Error.**

It should be initially noted Appellant's Brief violates the Iowa Supreme Court briefing requirements, as set forth in Iowa Rules of Appellate Procedure 6.903(2)(g)(1), as Plaintiffs do not identify "how the issue was preserved for appellate review, with references to the places in the record where the issue was raised and decided.

It is the position of Security National Bank that Plaintiffs argued on September 15, 2021, in their Resistance to Motion to Dismiss, that Plaintiffs complied with Iowa Code § 633.312. (App. 838). Plaintiffs again argued in their June 3, 2022, Motion for Reconsideration, that Plaintiffs complied with Iowa Code § 633.312 (App. 888); however, Plaintiffs added a new argument, that Plaintiffs' substantially complied with the requirements of Iowa Code § 633.312.

**b. Standard of Review.**

It should be initially noted that Appellant's Brief violates the Iowa Supreme Court briefing requirements, as set forth in Iowa Rules of Appellate Procedure 6.903(2)(g)(2), as Plaintiffs do not identify "the scope and standard of appellate review." Furthermore, Plaintiffs' Appellant Brief is completely devoid of any argument as to how the District Court's Rulings violated any applicable standard of review.

Security National Bank contends the standard of review regarding a trial court's granting of a Motion for New Trial is for abuse of discretion. See Elmore v. Woudenberg, 728 N.W.2d 225 (Iowa Ct. Appl 2006) (citing Foggia v. Des Moines Bowl-O-Mat, Inc., 543 N.W.2d 889, 891 (Iowa 1996) and Magnusson Agency v. Public Entity Nat. Co. – Midwest, 560 N.W.2d 20, 30 (Iowa 1997), and Lane v. Coe College, 581 N.W.2d 214, 216 (Iowa Ct. App. 1998)).

The Supreme Court has repeatedly and consistently defined "abuse of discretion" as "an erroneous conclusion and judgment, one clearly against logic and effect of facts and circumstances before the court, or the reasonable, probable and actual deductions to be drawn therefrom." See Glenn v. Farmland Foods, Inc., 344 N.W.2d 240, 243 (Iowa 1984) (citing Department of General Services v. R.M. Boggs Co., 336 N.W.2d 408, 410

(Iowa 1983); State v. Morrison, 323 N.W.2d 254, 256 (Iowa 1982), Best v. Yerkes, 77 N.W.2d 23, 32 (Iowa 1956))

c. **Argument.**

The statute at issue in this appeal is Iowa Code § 633.312, which provides:

In all actions to contest or set aside a will, all known interested parties who have not joined with the contestants as plaintiffs in the action, shall be joined with proponents as defendants. When additional interested parties become known, the court shall order them brought in as party defendants. All such defendants shall be brought in by serving them with notice pursuant to the rules of civil procedure.

Of critical relevance to this appeal issue is the requirement that “all known interested parties” who are not Plaintiffs “**shall be joined with proponents as defendants.**” Id. The interpretation of this statute is of first impression with the Iowa Supreme Court.

In the present case, it is undisputed Richard had six (6) children, Dean, Sheryl, Debra, Jeff, Larry, and Gary, and all said children were living at the time of Richard’s death. It is further undisputed that on October 3, 2018, the Petition to Contest Will included Dean, Jeff, Larry, and Gary as Plaintiffs, and the remaining two (2) children, Debra and Sheryl were Defendants. (App. 36). All six (6) children were represented by counsel as either Plaintiffs or Defendants, as mandated by Iowa Code § 633.312, for

Jury Trial # 1. The problem arose, however, when Plaintiffs NEW counsel elected to dismiss Dean and Jeff on May 28, 2021 (a weeks before trial), and, on 12:51 p.m., the day before commencement of Jury Trial # 2, dismissed Debra as a Defendant. It is undisputed that Jury Trial # 2 did not have all of Richard's six (6) children as either Plaintiff or Defendant, as mandated by Iowa Code § 633.312.

Plaintiffs attempted to correct their mistaken legal trial tactic on appeal by spinning Iowa Code § 633.312 and claiming all interested parties were originally part of the litigation, but the statute does not require an interested party to remain a defendant through the completion of the Will Contest Trial. See Appellant Brief at 16-17.

In reviewing the District Court's initial **May 19, 2022, Ruling**, it extensively and exhaustively addressed whether Debra was an indispensable party, whether Debra's non-joinder was waived due to the Defendants consenting to her dismissal, and what is the proper and equitable remedy for Debra's non-joinder at Jury Trial # 2. (App. 851 - Ruling p. 5). The Court's correct analysis and interpretation of Iowa Code § 633.312 will be outlined below.

**First**, the District Court concluded Iowa Code § 633.312 does not define "interested parties"; however, the Supreme Court has previously

defined “interested person” as “one whose ‘interests are directly affected by a diminution of the [estate] assets.’” (App. 852-853 - Ruling p. 6-7 (citing In re Estate of Boyd, 634 N.W.2d 630, 638-39 (Iowa 2001) (quotations omitted)). The District Court correctly concluded that, based upon Debra’s inheritance rights under the 2018 Will, and the effect on Debra’s rights should the 2018 Will be set aside, Debra was clearly an “interested party” for purposes of Iowa Code § 633.312. (App. 853 - Ruling p. 7).

**Second**, the District Court analyzed the requirements of Iowa Code § 633.312 that all interested parties be joined as defendants and concluded the interested parties are “indispensable parties” to resolution of a Will Contest claim. (App. 853 - Ruling p. 7). The District Court, in parsing through the wording of the statute, noted the statute states “shall” be joined – “the word ‘shall’ generally connotes a mandatory duty.” (App. 853 - Ruling p. 7 (citing In re Detention of Fowler, 784 N.W.2d 184, 187 (Iowa 2010))). The second sentence of Iowa Code § 633.312 further places a duty on the District Court as “[w]hen additional interested parties become known, **the court shall order** them brought in as party defendants.” Id. (Emphasis added). The District Court concluded, based upon the mandatory requirement of “shall” and the duty of the Court to bring in additional interested parties, the failure to include all “interested parties” renders all subsequent proceedings



invalid. (App. 853 - Ruling p. 7 “(citing In re Ditz Estate, 125 N.W.2d 814, 818 (Iowa 1964) (siting in *dicta* that the effect of what is now § 633.312 is to codify, in the will contest context, the property application of the indispensable party rule set forth in what is now Rule 1.234)”. (App. 854 - Ruling p. 8).

The Court further noted, in reviewing Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.234, there are two (2) different types of indispensable parties: “(1) a party whose ‘interest is not severable, and [whose] absence will prevent the court from rendering any judgment between the parties before it’; and (2) a party whose ‘interest would necessarily be inequitably affected by a judgment rendered between those before the court,’ notwithstanding the party’s absence from the case.” (App. 855 - Ruling p. 9 (citing Sear v. Clayton Cnty. Zoning Bd., 590 N.W.2d 512, 517 (Iowa 1999)). Debra clearly met both of these requirements as Debra’s interest was not severable from the interests of the other beneficiaries, and Debra’s absence prevents the District Court from rendering a judgment between the interested parties remaining in the litigation. (App. 855 - Ruling p. 9). The District Court further opined that “generally ‘a determination in a will contest . . . that a will is invalid [] has the effect of invalidating the will in toto and as to everyone interested therein.’” (App. 855 - Ruling p. 9 (citing In re Ditz Estate, 125 N.W.2d at).

If the Will Contest claims of Plaintiffs are resolved in Plaintiffs' favor, this would result in an adjudication of Debra's rights and interests under the contested Will, thus making her claims, rights and interests unseverable. (App. 855-856 - Ruling p. 9-10).

**Third**, the District Court reviewed whether it can render judgment between the parties, in absence of Debra at trial. (App. 856 - Ruling p. 10). The District Court initially noted the Iowa Supreme Court has previously opined "a person's 'rights cannot be adjudicated unless [the person] is made a party to the action' wherein adjudication of those rights is sought." (App. 856 - Ruling p. 10 (citing Franchesen v. Miller, 297 N.W.2d 375, 378 (Iowa 1980) (citations omitted)). As Debra was an indispensable party whose inheritance rights were being adjudicated in the Will Contest action, the District Court could not proceed with resolving the issues without Debra being part of the action. (App. 857 - Ruling p. 11).

**Fourth**, the District Court further analyzed Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.234 and whether the "indispensable party would be necessarily *inequitably* affected by a judgment between the parties before the court, despite the absence of the purported indispensable party." (App. 858 - Ruling p. 12). The District Court concluded that based upon the various rights of Debra, as previously discussed, entering a judgment as a result of

trial at which Debra is absent would be “inequitable.” (App. 859 - Ruling p. 13). The District Court highlighted and emphasized that Debra’s dismissal was filed by Plaintiffs “only hours before the trial in this matter was scheduled to commence”, which “left Debra very little time to consider the implications of her dismissal.” Id. Furthermore, to additionally complicate matters, Debra’s attorney, who was the same attorney as Sheryl, had to “revamp his planned presentation of Sheryl’s case to account for Debra’s dismissal as well as the Plaintiffs’ last-minute dismissal of their lack-of-testamentary capacity claim.” Id. Given these last-minute events, after a case had been “pending for years”, the District Court noted “it would not be at all surprising if Debra failed even to consider whether she is an indispensable party, or how her dismissal from the will contest portion of this case might affect her ability to protect her interests – e.g., her opportunity to litigate any claim of partial validity of Richard’s 2018 Will.” (App. 859-860 - Ruling p. 13-14). The Court concluded these facts added to its’ opinion that resolving the trial without Debra’s presence would be “inequitable.” (App. 860 - Ruling p. 14).

**Fifth**, the District Court looked at whether the application of Iowa Code § 633.312 was waived by Sheryl, as Sheryl consented to the dismissal and proceeding with the Will Contest Trial in Debra’s absence. (App. 863 -

Ruling p. 17.) The District Court concluded the case of Ditch v. Hess, 212 N.W.2d 442, 449-50 (Iowa 1973) was instructive on the issue as it stated “an indispensable party issue may be raised for the first time on appeal, and that when a valid indispensable party issue is so raised, the proper disposition of the appeal is reversal of the underlying judgment or decree, and remand to the trial court with directions to allow the plaintiff to bring in the missing indispensable party.” (App. 863 - Ruling p. 17 (additional citations omitted)).

Additionally, the Iowa Court of Appeals also applied the Ditch rule in Rice v. Seventeen Twenty Associates, No. 99-0424, 2000 WL 278752 (Iowa Ct. App. March 15, 2000), and stated, despite its’ uneasiness that the indispensable party issue was not raised before the appeal, “under the Ditch rule, it was ‘constrained ... to address the issue.’” (App. 864 - Ruling p. 18). The Court of Appeals concluded that the absent landowner was an indispensable party and reversed and remanded the case back to the District Court with instruction to Plaintiff to add the missing indispensable party. (App. 864 - Ruling p. 18).

The District Court opined, based upon the aforementioned cases, the “absence of an indispensable party is not waivable, and so may be raised at any time, regardless of the procedural history of the case in which the issue

is raised. And under such a rule, the Plaintiffs' waiver arguments all would fail." (App. 865 - Ruling p. 19).

**Finally**, the District Court also addressed Plaintiffs' claims that Debra's interests were protected through the defense and litigation by Security National Bank and/or Sheryl Collins. The District Court, in addressing this issue, noted that "neither Sheryl nor Security National Bank actually pursued at trial Debra's interest in the partial-validity argument. Accordingly, the Court concluded that Debra's interests were not sufficiently protected by either Sheryl or Security National Bank to excuse Debra's absence during trial." (App. 875 - Ruling p. 29).

The District Court further noted that "[d]espite her pre-trial presence as a party to the Plaintiffs' lawsuit, once the Plaintiffs dismissed Debra as a party, she had no remaining right to participate in this case." (App. 877 - Ruling p. 31). The District Court further added, to the extent Plaintiffs contend they were only dismissing the tortious interference claim against Debra, but not Debra's right to participate in the Will Contest trial, the District Court was not persuaded by that argument. (App. 878 - Ruling p. 32). The District Court noted:

Plaintiffs' written dismissal is not in any way limited to the tortious-interference claim. The Plaintiffs' oral argument in support of that dismissal, on the first day of trial, did not even suggest that the dismissal was so

limited. ***And most significantly of all, the Plaintiffs, in a motion in limine, sought and obtained an in limine order prohibiting the remaining Defendants from mentioning Debra's prior status as a party, which in the Court's view conclusively shows that the Plaintiffs intended to and did dismiss Debra altogether from their lawsuit, including from the will contest.***

(App. 878 - Ruling p. 32 (emphasis added)).

In conclusion, based upon the District Court's determination that Debra Shultz was an indispensable party, and that said issue can be raised at any time, even on appeal, the District Court concluded the matter should be set for new trial and the Plaintiffs add back in all the indispensable parties.

(App. 880-885 - Ruling p. 34-39). Of particular importance, the District Court weighted the equities of the case and concluded:

But to the extent that this Court, in applying Iowa's indispensable party law, must consider the equities in deciding on the remedy here, the Court concludes that those equities weigh in favor of a new trial. In particular, although both Sheryl and Debra failed to object to Debra's dismissal from the will contest, although Sheryl only filed her instant motion after trial, although the Plaintiffs have an interest in the preservation of the jury verdict, and although the public interest will be burdened by a second trial, the manner in which the indispensable party issue became an issue here — by the Plaintiffs' decision to dismiss Debra only hours before trial was scheduled to begin. Again, this left very little time for Debra or Sheryl to consider the effects of the dismissal on Debra's interest, and on the Court's ability to grant complete relief to the remaining parties. Further, both Debra's dismissal and the timing of that dismissal obviously were tactical decisions by the Plaintiffs — to

avoid the jury sitting eye-to-eye, for the duration of the trial, with a party who stood to lose if the will contest succeeded, and whom the evidence at trial suggested had not engaged in any wrongful conduct; and to upend at the last second the trial preparations of the remaining defendants. The Court does not mean to imply that the Plaintiffs' actions were unethical. But the Court has no doubt that the Plaintiffs' actions were designed in an effort to obtain, through procedural mechanisms, an advantage at trial. **Such efforts to use procedural shenanigans to affect the outcome of the substantive questions at trial, while not prohibited, should not be rewarded when they must be taken into consideration as part of an inquiry into the equities of this case. In short, then, even if this Court must consider the equities of the case in deciding on a remedy, in the manner required under federal law, the Court still concludes that a new trial is warranted.**

(App. 882-883 - Ruling p. 36-37 (Emphasis added)). The District Court, in addition to finding Debra as an indispensable party to be added on remand, also concluded that Dean and Jeff, who were also dismissed as Plaintiffs, were required to be readded as Plaintiffs, as they too were indispensable parties under Iowa Code § 633.312. (App. 884-885 - Ruling p. 38-39).

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